Application of hyperbaric oxygen therapy in stroke

Shai Efrati, MD
Head of the Sagol center for hyperbaric medicine and research,
Head of Research & Development unit,
Assaf Harofeh Medical Center,
Zerifin, 70300, Israel.
Tel: +972-549-212-866.; Fax: +972-8-9779748.

E-mail: efratishai@013.net

Amir Hadanny, MD Sagol center for hyperbaric medicine and research, Assaf Harofeh Medical Center, Zerifin 70300 Tel: +972-544707381, Fax: +972-8-9779748

E-mail: Amir.had@gmail.com

Content

Pages
Title
Contents
Background and epidemiology3
Clinical presentation4
Pathophysiology4-7
Standard management and outcome7-9
Rationale for HBOT use
Evidence-Based review of HBO use
Acute stroke
Chronic stage19-23
Patients selection for HBOT24
HBOT Protocol23-25
Cost impact
Conclusions26
Evidence table
References

Background and epidemiology:

Stroke may be defined as a sudden neurological deficit of presumed vascular origin (1). It is the fourth leading cause of death and major cause of disability worldwide (2-4). One in 6 people will have a stroke during their lifetime and one third of those will experience recurrence (4). Stroke causes 9% of all deaths around the world and is the second most common cause of death after ischemic heart disease. The proportion of deaths caused by stroke is 10-12% in western countries, and 12% of these deaths are in people less than 65 years of age (5). About one-third of survivors require significant assistance in daily life at one year after the event (6). Typical estimates, largely drawn from knowledge of stroke incidence and mortality, are that about 500 people per 100000 population live with the consequences of stroke. Because stroke mortality is probably decreasing more rapidly than stroke incidence, the proportion of stroke survivors is likely to increase, which will place increased demands on health-care and social-care systems(7).

Stroke contributes to a series of complications, such as motor and cognitive deficits (8), aphasia (9), dysphagia (10) and some psychological disorders (11), which aggravate the

aphasia (9), dysphagia (10) and some psychological disorders (11), which aggravate the patient's family and socioeconomic burden (12). Worldwide, stroke consumes about 2-4% of total health-care costs, and in industrialized countries stroke accounts for more than 4% of direct health-care costs. The total costs to society have been variously estimated at £7.6 billion in the UK at 1995 prices and US\$40.9 billion in the USA at 1997 prices (7, 13), which represents about US\$100 per head of population per year.

Stroke is divided into two subgroups: ischemic (73-86% of the cases) and hemorrhagic (14-27% of the cases) (14). Ischemic stroke has a lower mortality rate than hemorrhagic and the acute management differs for the two subgroups (6).

Clinical presentation:

Most adult patients will have medical history with atherosclerotic risk factors including hypertension, diabetes mellitus, tobacco use, high cholesterol or the history of coronary artery disease.

Signs and symptoms of stroke often develop suddenly and then may temporarily improve or slowly worsen, depending upon the type of stroke and area of brain affected. Common signs and symptoms include the abrupt onset of any of the following: hemiparesis, monoparesis, hemi sensory deficits, monocular or binocular visual loss, diplopia, dysarthria, facial droop, ataxia, vertigo, aphasia, and decrease in the level of consciousness. Although such symptoms can occur alone, they are more likely to occur in combination. No historical feature distinguishes ischemic from hemorrhagic stroke, although nausea, vomiting, headache and sudden change in level of consciousness are more common in hemorrhagic strokes.

Pathophysiology:

Ischemic strokes are due to a reduction of perfusion. This reduction can be due to decreased systemic perfusion, severe stenosis or occlusion of a blood vessel by thrombosis or emboli (15). This reduction of blood flow to a portion or all brain tissue results in a deprivation of oxygen and glucose.

Under normal conditions, cerebral autoregulation is a phenomenon by which cerebral blood flow (CBF) is maintained at a relatively constant level despite moderate variations in perfusion pressure. During stroke, the decrease in perfusion pressure beyond the ability of the brain to compensate (by cerebral blood vessels dilatation) results in a reduction in cerebral blood flow. Initially, the oxygen extraction fraction is increased in order to maintain level of oxygen delivery to the brain tissue. At CBF of 35 ml/100g per

minute, protein synthesis ceases and glucose utilization is transiently increased. At 25 ml/100g per minute, glucose utilization drops dramatically with the onset of anaerobic glycolysis, resulting in tissue acidosis from accumulation of lactic acid. Neuronal electrical failure occurs at 16-18 ml/100 g per minute, and at 10-12 ml/100 g per minute the ion homeostasis fail, resulting in membrane potentials disruption and infarction (16-18).

Most strokes are caused by focal ischemia, affecting only a portion of the brain, typically involving a single blood vessel and its own downstream branches. The region directly surrounding the vessel is the most affected. Within this region, cells in a central core of tissue will be irreversibly damaged and die by necrosis if the duration of ischemia is long enough. At distances father from the affected vessels, a volume of cells can recieve a small amount of oxygen and glucose by diffusion from collateral vessels. These cell can be functionally impaired, but structurally intact tissue (19). This tissue is known as the ischaemic penumbra and can recover if blood flow is restored in a timely manne (19) Within the ischaemic penumbra, a cascade of neurochemical events begins with energy energy/ adenosine triphophate (ATP) depletion, followed by ionic concentrations of sodium, potassium and calcium As a consequence, membrane potential is depolarized and excitatory amino acid glutamate is released. Activation of gluatmate receptors leads to increased calcium entering the cell. The influx of calcium is balanced by influx of water, leading to edema as well as increased glutamate release which continues the excitatory stimulation (20, 21). The ionic celular derangement leads to mitochondrial caclium overloading, which is responsible for inducing changes of inner membrane permeability with consequent malfunctioning, uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation, over-production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and, finally, mitochondrial swelling and dysfunction [28]. At this stage, cell death will follow either by apoptosis or necrosis. The infarct core contains tissue that is unsalvageable and represents the terminal events of the ischemic cascade.

In addition, the release of byproducts from cellular damage activates components of the inflammatory pathway, with migration of activated leukocytes to damaged tissue. In turn, these leukocytes release cytokines which may accumulate to toxic levels (22, 23). Cerebral edema can cause secondary damage by several mechanisms including increased intracranial pressure, which may decrease CBF, and mass effect causing displacement of brain tissue from one compartment to another (25, 24).

Hemorrhagic stroke is classified as primary or secondary based on the underlying cause (26). Primary ICH is the result of spontaneous rupture of small vessels due to hypertension and cerebral amyloid angiopathy. Secondary ICH is due to a cause other than small vessel rupture (e.g., aneurysm, arteriovenous malformation, hemorrhagic transformation of ischemic stroke, and neoplasms. Following both types, direct neural and microvascular injury will occur, cerebral edema will form and perilesional blood flow will change (26). Early edema is due to the accumulation of serum proteins of the blood clot that contains osmotic activity (27). Subsequently, neural injury, ion homestasis disruption, inflammatory response (as described above) will lead to both vasogenic and cytotoxic edema (28). There is reduced regional cerebral blood flow adjacent to the hematoma, which increases as the distance from the hematoma center increased, leading to ischemic injury far larger than the hemorrhagic core (29).

In the subacute - chronic stage post stroke, the part of the brain who underwent infarction is non-viable and could not recover. However, there are brain regions which

are metabolically dysfunctional yet viable (30). These non-active (stunned) areas can persist through days, months and even years after the acute injury (31). These areas are characterized by a chronic hypoxia, which prevents proper aerobic metabolism needed for the regenerative process. The neurons within this chronic metabolic dysfunction regions have sufficient energy/oxygen for preservation of the membrane potential but not sufficient for the full action potentials and the normal neuronal activity (30, 32).

Standard management and outcome

In the acute setting, time is of the essence in the evaluation and treatment of stroke patients. Patients are examined using a structured neurologic exam and score – National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) to assist in prognosis and therapeutic selection. Non-contrast CT is used to differentiate between stroke types. Advanced imaging techniques (CT Angiography, MRI, MRI Perfusion,

Therapy of ischemic stroke focuses in restoring brain perfusion. Timely restoration of blood flow is the most effective maneuver for salvaging ischemic brain tissue that is not already infracted. There is a narrow time window during which this can be accomplished, since the benefit of reperfusion therapy for ischemic stroke decreases in a continuous fashion over time. Thus, it is crucial to determine if the patient is eligible for intravenous thrombolysis or mechanical thrombectomy. Intravenous thrombolytic therapy with alteplase (rtPTA) improves outcomes in patients with acute ischemic stroke who can be treated within 3-4.5 hours from stroke onset. Intravenous thrombolysis improves outcome rates by 1.26-1.7 unfortunately with considerably increase risk (6.8%) for symptomatic intracranial hemorrhage (33). Due to the limited

time window and exclusion related to high hemorrhagic risk, only 2-5% of the patients fulfill criteria for treatment (34).

Intra-arterial mechanical thrombectomy improves outcomes for patients with ischemic stroke caused by a large artery occlusion in the proximal anterior circulation with a significant proportional treatment benefit across by 1.56 compared to intravenous thrombolysis (35). Approximately 4-5% of ischemic stroke patients undergo endovascular thromectomy even thoghtit is estimated to be applicable in up to 10% of patients (36).

In the acute setting of hemorrhagic stroke, therapy focuses on minimization of secondary injury by ensuring adequate oxygenation, hemodynamic stability, control of intracranial pressure, and strategies to reduce the expected cellular injury (37, 38). Many the neuroprotective agents shown to be promising results in animal experiments, failed to be confirmed the expected efficacy in humans (39, 40).

In the subacute setting, several interventions (antithrombotic therapy, lipid lowering therapy, blood pressure reduction and smoking cessation) are associated with reduced stroke recurrence rates. About a quarter of stroke patients may die within a month, third within 6 months, and a half within a year (41). Prognosis is even worse for those with intracerebral and subarachnoid haemorrhage because the 1-month mortality approaches 50%. The major cause of early mortality is neurological deterioration with contributions from other causes such as infections secondary to aspiration (if not managed aggressively), but later deaths are more commonly caused by cardiac disease or complications of stroke (41). After minor stroke, the risk of further stroke is substantially higher than previously thought, reaching as high as 30% within the first month in some subgroups (42).

During the subacute-chronic phase, patients are usually advice to participate in intensive rehabilitation programs in order to improve independent function and quality of life. These rehabilitation programs helps the patients to adapt to their disabilities. Rehabilitation includes a multidisciplinary approach conducted by physiotherapy, speech and language therapy, cognitive rehabilitation therapy, medications and others.

Motor deficits are one of the most common and challenging consequences of a stroke (43). An estimation of 50% of survivors have hemiparesis, 30% are unable to walk without assistance, and 25% are dependent for activities of daily living (44). A variety of interventions can improve aspects of occupational performance in stroke survivors who have residual motor impairments. Currently, occupational therapists use multiple interventions to remediate motor impairments. However, no consensus has been reached regarding which interventions are most effective for improving occupational performance and from the biological perspective none of these interventions target the basic brain pathology responsible for clinical presentation (45).

In addition to motor disabilities, 35% - 50% of stroke survivors develop depression, the most common psychological sequel of stroke (46). The evidence is inconclusive for using multicomponent exercise programs to combat depression after stroke and for the use of stroke education and care support and coordination interventions to address poststroke anxiety (47). One study provided support for an intensive multidisciplinary home program in improving depression, anxiety, and health-related quality of life (47).

The rate of cognitive impairment after stroke is reported between 37-46% (44, 48). The evidence regarding interventions for executive dysfunction and memory loss is limited. There is insufficient evidence regarding impairments of attention and mixed evidence regarding interventions for visual field deficits. The effective interventions have some

commonalities, including being performance focused, and using a compensatory stimulation as opposed to a remediation approach.

In general, spontaneous recovery from stroke occurs mainly within the first 30 days, though moderate and severe stroke survivors continue to improve for at least 90 days (49)

Rationale for HBOT use

The brain receives 15% of the cardiac output, consumes 20% of the total body oxygen, and utilizes 25% of the total body glucose. The energy thus supplied is sufficient to keep only 5-10% of the neurons active at any given time. At a standard healthy condition, the brain utilizes almost all the oxygen/energy delivered to it so there is no reserve left neither for re-circulating during the acute hypoxic setting or for the regenerative processes needed at the delayed post stroke setting.

In the acute phase of stroke, the reduced supply of oxygen and glucose initiate the vicious—cascade resulting in brain injury. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy (HBOT), by increasing the oxygen delivery to the ischemic tissue can reduce the expected damage. Many animal studies revealed the beneficial effects of HBOT in acute stroke, early HBOT can reduce cerebral edema, infarct volume (50) and improve CBF (51). HBOT can also revererse the blood-brain-barrier permability caused by activation of matrix metalloproteinases, one of the mechanisms responsible for the hemorrhagic transformation (52). That was confirmed by another study where HBOT decreases hemorrhagic transformation and decreased mortality in an animal model of focal cerebral ischemia (53).

In the delayed chronic stage, HBOT improves penumbral oxygenation through modification of the transcription factor hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha (HIF 1α) and its downstream targets. Oxygenation improves energy metabolism in the border zones of focal cerebral ischemia represented by significant reduction of areas with tissue acidosis and areas with ATP depletion (54)(55). HBOT can also decrease the post ischemic inflammatory response by reducing blood-brain-barrier damage (56), inflammatory cytokines release (50) and supresses the aggravated response of astrocytes and microgliosis (57). In addition, HBOT inhibits polymorphonuclear cells infiltration, sequestration and activity in the injured brain (58, 59) (60).

HBOT reduces apoptosis which enables to preserve more brain tissues and promote neurologic functional recovery (61). Opening of mitochondrial ATP-sensitive potassium channel plays a role in this antiapoptotic effect of early hyperbaric oxygenation (62). Other mechanisms involve increased nitric oxide levels, reduced formation of hydroxylfree radicals and decreased glutamate release (63).

The bottom line is that HBOT promotes neurogenesis which correlates with neurocognitive recovery. In addition to the above mention mechanism, one of the most intriguing is related to HBOT effect on stem cells. HBOT increases mobilization of bone marrow stem cells to the ischemic tissue in addition to stimulating trophic factors that improve neurogenesis and gliosis (64).

Preconditioning with hyperbaric oxygen prior to stroke was found as neuroprotective. Thus, generating tolerance against brain ischemia-reperfusion injury improving recovery rate and lowering mortality rate. HBOT reduce the infarct size (65), reduce neuroinflammation (66, 67), activated angiogenesis by upregulation of HIF-1 α and its target EPO gene (68) (69), decrease anaerobic metabolism and lactate levels, inhibited

toxic excitatory glutamate release (70), regulated striatal metabolites (such as dopamine) (71) (72), supressed mitocondrial apoptotic pathways (73) (74), and upregulated of anti-oxidant enzymes (catalase and superoxide dismutase) (75)

The optimal HBOT protocol in the acute stroke setting was not be determined in animals' models. Even thought that a dose response effect could be demonstrated (76), the timing for intervention is inconclusive. For instance, application of HBOT within 6 hours of injury could benefit the patient but that applying HBOT 12 h or more after injury may increase the injured tissue (77). In another trial, applying HBOT even after both 9 and 18 hours reduced infarct size and improved neurological recovery, however the results of 9 hours delay treatment were superior than the 18 hours delay(78). Moreover, several studies showed efficacy of HBOT only if there was a successful recanalization of the occluded artery recanalization (79). In addition to reduction of infarct size, the use of HBOT cominbed with thrombolysis yielded decreased post thrombolytic intracerebral hemorrahage which may suggest the combined use (80). Longer (3 weeks compared with 2 days) course of HBOT achieved higher improvements in neurological function (81).

In the subacute-chronic delayed stage, several animal studies have revealed the beneficial effect of HBOT on the chronically injured brain tissue and on the resultant neuro-cognitive dysfunction in animal models (82-84). By increasing oxygen content in the blood and injured tissue (85-87), HBOT can supply the energy needed for the brain regenerative processes of neuroplasticity.

HBOT induces neuroplasticity by stimulating cell proliferation (88), promotes neurogenesis of endogenous neural stem cells (89), regenerates axonal white matter (90), improves maturation and myelination of injured neural fibers (91, 92), and stimulates axonal growth thus increasing the ability of neurons to function and communicate with

each other (93, 94). At the cellular level, HBOT can improve cellular metabolism, reduce apoptosis, alleviate oxidative stress and increase levels of neurotrophins and nitric oxide through enhancement of mitochondrial function (in both neurons and glial cells) ,89 ,87) (95. Moreover, the effects of HBOT on neurons can be mediated indirectly by glial cells, including astrocytes (57). The common denominator to all repair and regeneration mechanisms is that they are all oxygen dependent.

HBOT was also found to have a significant role in initiation and facilitation of angiogenesis, which is required for axonal regeneration (96-100). By inducing angiogenesis, HBOT improves the cerebral vascular flow necessary for neurogenesis and synaptogenesis (101, 102).

Evidence-Based review of HBO use

Acute stroke

There were 4 RCTs, 3 prospective studies,2 cohort studies, 3 case reports and one meta-analysis evaluating the clinical effects of HBOT in acute stroke. The studies had different HBOT protocols for hyperbaric pressure, different time delay to HBOT, inclusion/exclusion of thrombolysis, severity of injury, type of stroke, number of sessions, as well as different methods of evaluation.

Low level evidence:

Meta-analysis done at 2014 (103) was set to pool 7 randomized controlled trials on acute ischemic stroke treated with HBOT. Base on 4 trials, it concluded there were no significant differences in case fatality rates in receiving HBOT compared to sham therapy (p=0.96). However, only one out of the 7 studies study was included in efficacy analysis (p=0.12). Therefore this meta-analysis could not be considered valid.

Chen et al. reported on a patient who suffered acute ischemic stroke unqualified for thrombolysis who received HBOT started 3 days later (104). He received 10 sessions in total. Post HBOT, the patient had improved neurological scores (NIHSS, BI, mRS) at completion of HBOT and at 3 months follow up. SPECT and CT-perfusion imaging showed improved CBF and penumbra areas

Gibon et al. collected a case series of 12 patients with acute ischemic strokes as a result of cardiac surgery (105). Patients were treated with HBOT within 4-48 hours from surgery for 1-3 sessions. Eight (66%) patients had partial or complete resolution of neurological symptoms. The main limitations lies within the fact that although these cases could be considered as ischemic strokes, at least some of these cases may be related to air embolism rather than thrombo/embolic origin. In addition, this was a relative small case series, without an objective imaging and a control group.

McCormick's retrospective study reevaluated 22 patients with acute stroke treated with HBOT in 1966 (106). In the one- to five-hour post-stroke group of 13 patients, nine (41% of 22) had fully recovered or recovered with relapse. When HBOT started more than six hours post-stroke, only one patient (11%) had partial recovery with relapse. The other eight patients who received treatment after six hours had no recovery at all. The main limitations of this study are small sample size, lack of objective imaging, lack of thrombolysis, standard of treatment in 1966, and lack of a control group.

Lim et al. reported a case of hemorrhagic stroke treated within 24 hours (107). Patient was treated with 9 daily sessions of 90 minutes of hyperbaric oxygen at 1.8 ATA. During

and post HBOT there was clinically significant neurological improvement in motor strength and GCS. Improvements were sustained at 3 and 6 months follow up. The important of this study from the pathophysiological view is that compared to baseline MRI, perfusion MRI done after first session showed increased cerebral blood volume around the hematoma.

Ingvar et al. reported on 4 patients with acute/subacute ischemic stroke treated within 2 weeks after event (108). HBOT sessions were 1.5-2.5 hours of 100% oxygen at 2-2.5 ATA. In three out of four cases, HBOT had beneficial effects on the neurological deficits. One of the cases with progressive ischemic lesions of brain stem had a dramatic change by HBOT.

Moderate/high level evidence:

Chen et al prospective study included 46 patients (of which 16 HBOT) suffering from ischemic stroke for 48 hours without thrombolysis (109). HBOT of 10 sessions of 2 ATA started 3-5 days after stroke, was compared to standard of care. There was a non significant trend in early efficacy (after 10 sessions) measured by NIHSS between the 2 groups and this treand became clinically significant at the delayed neurological consequence. At 1 month post stroke, the clinical outcome was better in the acute stroke patients treated with HBOT (p=0.024). It should be noted that all patients had mild stroke severity (NIHSS 1-14). Other limitations include relative small number of patientand lack of an objective imaging method for infract/brain metabolism.

Imai et al. RCT (110) enrolled 38 patients with anterior circulation embolic ischemic stroke within 48 hours prior to inclusion. The HBOT group was treated with 7 sessions

of 2 ATA 100% oxygen for 60 minutes in addition to Edaravone administrated intravenously before and after each session. Six patients had favourable outcomes at 90 days in the HBOT group compared to only 1 in the control group (p=0.045). No significant difference was noticed for median absolute NIHSS scores between groups within 7 days of treatment. However the median change in NIHSS score within 7 days of treatment was 5 in the HBOT group compared to 1 in the control group (p<0.01). The main limitations of the study was the relative small sample size, lack of comparing objective brain imaging and inability to assess HBOT effect alone (without Edavorone).

Rusyniak et al. RCT (111) on 33 patients with ischemic stroke within 24 hours who did not receive thrombolysis. The HBOT group (n=17) was treated with 60 minutes of hyperbaric oxygen at 2.5 ATA session, while the control group (n=16) received a sham treatment of air at 1.14 ATA session. Authors reported there were no statistical differences detected between the 2 groups in the number of patients with early improvement (p=0.44). At 3 months, the percentage of patients with good outcomes (in GCS, mRS and NIHSS) was greater in the sham group compared with the HBO-treated group. As one of the important RCTs in acute stroke, it has considerable limitations; first, the small sample size. Second, there's no objective imaging used for selection of patients as well as follow up measures. Third, authors did not report the different results in patients with short time delay from symptoms. As discussed above, and shown in animal and human studies, time is a critical factor. Patients within 6 hours from symptom onset to treatment (only 15% in this study) may benefit considerably better than after 6 and 12 hours. Fourth, since thrombolysis was excluded, the extremely short protocol of only 1 session was probably not enough to oxygenate the injured tissues. Without early recanalization, the penumbra tissues would need repeated oxygenation to

survive. In addition the exclusion of thrombolysis may be critical, as HBOT had better results in animals when recanalization occurred. Another physiological perspective can be related to the use of 2.5 ATA with 100% oxygen. With related to injured brain, and compared to other studies using much lower pressures (for example 1.3-1.5 ATA), 2.5 ATA can be consider much higher than optimal.

Nighoghossian et al. RCT on 34 patients with acute middle cerebral artery ischemic stroke within 24 hours prior to inclusion (112). Due to dropout, only 27 were included in final analysis. HBOT group (n=17) were treated with 10 sessions of hyperbaric oxygen at 1.5 ATA, 100% oxyegnfor 40 minutes, where the sham group (n=17) were treated with air at 1.2 ATA. There was a trend favoring HBOT treatment was observed at 1 year according to the statistically significant higher mean scores of the Orgogozo (p<0.02) and Trouillas scales (p<0.03). However, the mean change from pretherapeutic to posttherapeutic scores in the two groups at 6 months and 1 year did was not statistical significance. The study had several limitations. First, the small sample size which was even reduced further by dropout. Second, there was stratification of results per time to HBOT. As discussed earlier, time is a critical factor and patients treated in the first six hours may have a significant benefit. Third, there was no thrombolysis available at the year of study. Fourth, there was no imaging used as an objective measure of improvement. Lastly, the length of each session (40 minutes) can be considered too short to saturate the tissues.

Anderon et al. RCT on 39 patients with anterior circulation ischemic stroke within 2 weeks prior to inclusion (113). This study could be considered as an intervention for acute to subacute stroke. HBOT group (N=20) was treated with 60 minutes of

hyperbaric oxygen at 1.5 ATA three times a day for maximal 5 days (maximal 15 sessions). The sham group (N=19) was treated with air at hyperbaric pressure of 1.5 ATA. Due to loss of follow up and protocol violations only 27 patients were included in final analysis. Even though both groups improved significantly post treatment the difference between groups, was not significant. In addition, there was no significant difference in infarct volumes at 4 months (p=0.250). The study had considerable limitations which should be discussed. First, retrospective review of all 39 CT scans demonstrated that even though clinical severity stratifications were similar between groups, more patients with larger infarcts were randomized to the oxygen-treated group. This is a critical reinforcement for selection of patients based on brain imaging. Second, patients were treated in too large time span related to the initiation of the insult (10-148 hours), but there was no stratification of the results by time. Third, the small sample size which was further reduced in final analysis. Fourth, the time to intervention range was 10-148 hours post injury which may too late for oxygenation of penumbra tissues. Fifth, there was no thrombolysis avavilable in 1991 which can be evaluted as an adjunctive to HBOT. Lastly, the use of 1.5 ATA as sham treatment is a known problem in hyperbaric medicine. At 1.5 ATA of compressed air there is a significant increase in plasma and tissue oxygen pressure by at least 70%. It is well known that any slight increase in the partial pressure, say 1.05 ATA (at the Dead Sea), can bring on significant physiological effects (114, 115). Thus, the evidence that both groups improved considerably may be related of a non-sham treatment. 1.5 ATA may well serve as a low dosage effective treatment rather than sham control.

Kapp et al. prospective study on 22 patients with acute/subacute anterior circulation stroke treated with HBOT (116). Patients were treated with 40 minutes of hyperbaric

oxygen at 1.5 ATA for 14 daily sessions. The treatment was started within 1 hour to 2 weeks from event. Ten (45%) patients improved motor function. Out of 14 patients who had dysphasia, six (43%) had improvement in speech. Among the responders, improvement was seen in the first two session. Two patients who received HBOT within 1 hour to event had complete recovery. Authors report there's no evidence for improved results if treatment is started in the first 24 hours compared to the first week. However, none of the patients was treated between 2 and 6 hours to event. There was a positive but not absolute correlation between partial deficit and response to HBOT. There was a non absolute correlation between small infarct size and response to HBOT. The study has several limitations besides the small sample size and lack of a control group. No proper statistical analysis was provided. The hetergoneous time delay from event to treatment (1 hours-2 weeks), where most patients were treated after 6 hours from event is a major issue. In addition, the hyperbaric protocol of 40 minutes per session can be considered too short for appropriate oxygenation of the tissues.

Lebedev et al. reported on 124 patients with acute stroke treated with HBOT (117). However the article is not available and details are unknown. It was established that the depth of unconsciousness and the motor and aphasic disorders decreased during a HBOT session, but the effect was usually short-lived. Aggravation of the patients' condition in the first week of the disease, evidently caused by increase of cerebral edema, occurred much less frequently using HBOT. The number of patients with regression of the neurological symptoms was practically the same with and without the use of HBOT, but the regression of the neurological defects was most evident in patients exposed to HBOT.

In summary, the current clinical evidence is not sufficient to recommend the use of HBOT in acute stroke. All RCTs had considerable small samples (20-40 patients) with significant methodological flaws. No objective brain imaging was used as an objective measure of brain damage for patient selection and improvement. In addition, the time to treatment hasn't been stratified properly, especially in the first few hours from event to treatment.

Chronic Stroke

There were 2 RCT's, 2 prospective study, 2 cohort and 3 case reports evaluating the clinical effects of HBOT in patients suffering from stroke in the chronic stage. The studies had different HBOT protocols and evaluated different aspects of stroke consequences; neurological function, depression and cognitive functions. All RCTs showed HBOT treated groups improved significantly compared to pre-treatment state.

Low level evidence:

Hadanny et al. evaluated 11 patients with anoxic brain injury (even thought not classical stroke it represent systemic and brain hypoperfusion) due to cardiac arrest with cognitive impairments for an average of 2.6 years post injury (118). HBOT induced modest but significant improvement in memory (12%), attention (20%) and executive function (24%). Clinical improvements correlated with increased brain activity in relevant brain areas as assessed by SPECT imaging. Study limitations: a relatively small sample, lack of control group and not classical stroke.

Boussi-Gorss et al. retrospective analysis of 91 patients with either hemorrhagic or ischemic stroke at the late stages (3-180 months) treated with HBOT (119). Patients were treated with 2ATA 100% oxygen for 40-60 sessions. Compared to baseline evaluation, HBOT induced significant improvements in all memory measures (verbal, nonverbal, delayed, and immediate) (p<0.0005). The clinical improvements were well correlated with brain metabolism improvements measured by SPECT, mainly in temporal areas. Main limitations include lack of control group and the retrospective method.

Churchill published a prospective study (120) that included 22 patients at least one year after stroke. Even though a year or more had elapsed since the acute insult, HBOT induced improvement in symptoms (51% memory, 51% attention/concentration, 48% balance/coordination, 45% endurance, 20% sleep). However, on standardized evaluations of cognition and questionnaires no significant changes were reported. A small subset of the patients had brain imaging, and of those more than 50% showed significant improvements in brain perfusion. The study has several limitations due to the small sample size, vague inclusion criteria and no control group. In addition, the statistics were calculated for the entire group of chronic brain injury and not specifically for post stroke patients.

Lee et al. reported on a case of a patient treated with HBOT 20 days after ischemic stroke (121). The patient received 8 sessions of 90 minutes hyperbaric oxygen at 2 ATA. Even though it is only one case the strength relates to the use MR spectroscopy. Post HBOT, there was clinical improvement in addition to normalization of lactate level at MR spectroscopy.

Neubauer reported a patient with chronic brain ischemia treated successfully with HBOT (122). The patient presented with symptoms of gross mental confusion, memory loss, both recent and remote, irrational speech and occasional violence. After series of HBOT at 1.5-2 AT the patient improved significantly to well functioning. Improvement was was maintained for four years with intermittent HBOT sessions.

Hart et al. reported on a patient treated with HBOT 2 months after ischemic stroke (123). HBOT protocol included 2 hours of 100% oxygen at 2.5ATA for 15 sessions, 1 month break and another 15 sessions. There was a significant improvement in right hand motor function, as well as EEG changes.

Moderate/high level evidence:

Yan et al. RCT (124) on 90 patients (30 HBOT, 30 HBOT+ fluoxetine, 30 fluoxetine) one month after stroke. HBOT protocol included 20 sessions of 2 ATA for 70 minutes 100% oxygen. HBOT had significant reduced post stroke depression measured when administrated on top of fluoxetine when compared to fluoxetine alone by Hamilton's depression (p<0.05) compared to the other groups. The combined treatment reached 90% clinical efficacy, compared to 70-76% in the other groups. The main limitations in this study were lack of negative control and small sample size. In addition, no objective imaging/assessment was performed. When considering treatment in the chronic stage of stroke, 4 weeks of HBOT may be not enough time for repair mechanisms mentioned above to take place.

Efrati et al. RCT included 59 patients who suffered a stroke (both ischemic and hemorrhagic) 6-36 months prior to inclusion (125). Study was designed as cross-over study where patients in the treated group were evaluated twice; at baseline and after 40 HBOT sessions. Patients in the cross group were evaluated three times: at baseline, after a 2-month control period of no treatment, and after subsequent 2-months of 40 HBOT sessions. Patients were treated with 90 minutes of 2 ATA HBOT for 40 sessions. HBOT improved neurological function group (measured in NIHSS) in both the treated group and treated-cross group (p=0.004 and p<0.0001, respectively). This was further noticeable since there was no improvement was found during the control period of the patients in the cross group (p=0.43). The same pattern was seen in the quality of life score (measured in ADL) (p<0.001 in HBOT treated and p<0.0001 in the HBOT treated cross group). Results of SPECT imaging were well correlated with clinical improvement, especially in regions of noticeable discrepancy between anatomy (CT/MR) and physiology (SPECT). The crossover design afforded a triple comparison for proper evaluation of the HBOT effect. The major limitation in this study was the selection of patients by their brain SPECT, which may not always be feasible for all. However, this limitation and the results of this study should guide the proper use of HBOT on selected stroke patients that have a well-defined metabolic brain injury.

Vila et al. prospective study on 26 patients (18 HBOT) with neurological disabilities and cognitive decline due to cerebrovascular disease (126). Two thirds of the patients had history to clinical strokes and all patients had signs of brain ischemic changes in imaging. HBOT group was treated with 2.5 ATA hyperbaric oxygen for 45 minutes while the control group was exposed to 1.1 ATA breathing air. There was a statistically significant improvement in all scales (neurologic disabilities, cognitive function assays

and quality of life) for the HBOT group compared with the placebo group and in the placebo group after receiving HBOT months (p<0.05). Neurological improvement persisted in the majority of patients for up to 6 months. In addition, subjects who were originally in the control group showed significant improvement after receiving HBOT. The main limitations include relative small sample size and the lack of follow up objective brain imaging. Each session included only 45 minutes of hyperbaric oxygen. A minimum of a 1 hour HBOT exposure at 2 ATA is required to saturate the mixed venous hemoglobin return to the right atrium in normal resting males. In addition the protocol included only 10 sessions, which may be too short to gain the full benefits from the induced repair mechanisms as discussed above. However this study shows the importance of patient selection by an objective method as well as the superiority over a sham treatment.

In summary, all RCTs as well as the other studies excluding one, favor the use of HBOT in the chronic stage of stroke. The use of an objective brain imaging method is of highly importance as criteria of patients' selection and as an objective measure of the treatment results. The studies that were done with a proper control group and objective measurable endpoints showed significant improvement in cognitive function, neurological function, quality of life and brain metabolism.

• Patients selection for HBOT

-Acute stroke:

Considering the current literature, HBOT could not be recommended for acute stroke settings. Most studies had significant methodological flaws. In addition to small sample size, the main issues were patients' selection and timing of intervention. Currently, there is no clinical evidence regarding the optimal time to HBOT. There is not enough evidence to differentiate between ischemic and hemorrhagic strokes.

-Subacute/Chronic stroke:

Most of the studies in the delayed-chronic setting evaluated the effects of HBOT 3 months to 3 years post injury. The data before one month and after 3 years is lacking. No study has shown the importance or rational for delaying HBOT latter than 3 months. However, since most intensive rehabilitation programs treat stroke patients within the first 3 months, it problematic from sample size statistical consideration to have a control group during this period of time.

The correlation between metabolic brain imaging (eg. SPECT) and clinical outcome promises better results and affords objective evaluation of the patients. Therefore, patients should have brain metabolic imaging in addition to anatomical imaging at baseline as part of the pre post HBOT evaluations. Patients that can benefit the most from the treatment are those considerable metabolism defects without matched necrotic/anatomical damage.

• HBOT protocol

Acute stroke:

No protocol could be recommended based on current literature.

Chronic stroke:

Most evidence for HBOT in the chronic stroke settings was gained with a protocol of 90 minutes of 100% oxygen at 2 ATA.

The optimal number of sessions for specific patients is not clear. 20-40 sessions were used in the different study protocols, and in the authors' opinion 40 daily sessions should be the minimum number of sessions. It seems reasonable to assume that in order to gain full benefit from the neuroplastic/ regenerative brain processes 60 session can be recommended. However there is no study that compared different HBOT protocols.

It is highly recommended that all patients should undergo brain SPECT or PET-CT evaluation, in addition to MRI, for metabolism defects before and after the treatment. This may serve as an adjunctive tool for the decision whether to continue the treatment further. It should be well recognized by the physician and the expectation should be set with the patient that HBOT cannot have any effect on the necrotic brain regions.

Cognitive evaluations should be standardized, with preference to automated objective evaluations. Tests should have several versions with high test-retest reliability.

Neurological functions and depression should be evaluated properly and objectively.

Cost impact:

Financially:

The average cost for the first year for a stroke post stroke is about \$17,080(127). The corresponding average yearly cost of medication was \$5,392(128), while the average cost of yearly rehabilitation service utilization was \$11,689 (127). Studies

showed that the annual costs of care for a patient with ischemic stroke at 10 years were did not decrease and were similar to the costs between 3 and 5 years after event (128). However, for hemorrhagic stroke, annual costs increase significantly in the long term and are considerably higher at 10 years (128). When considering a 40-60 sessions of HBOT, the cost would be \$12,000-24,000, which is cost effective by all means even in the first year after treatment. In addition, these numbers do not take into account the loss of work due to disability and the return to work after HBOT of those who can improve/recover with the treatment.

Safety: In a recent retrospective analysis, patients suffering from chronic stroke did not have a higher complication rate compared to other HBOT patients. The usual risks of 40-60 sessions in HBOT are mild and reversible.

Conclusions:

Acute stroke: based on the data available today, HBOT cannot be recommended in the acute setting of stroke. Further multicenter studies are needed in order to evaluate the optimal treatment protocol for the different types of injuries.

Chronic Stroke: Based on the data available today, HBOT may be recommended in chronic stroke for a selected group of patients who have clear evidence of metabolically dysfunctioning brain regions that are mismatching with the necrotic brain regions. Patients who are candidates for HBOT should be properly evaluated prior to therapy by standardized cognitive tests and by a functional imaging of the brain.

Study (authors , year)	Туре	Nb patients	Aim(s) / Evaluation criteria	Inclusion / Exclusion criteria	HBO protocol (pressure, time, nb of session)	Results	Conclusion / comment
Hadann y (2015) (118)	Case series	11 patients	Cognitive: Neurotrax computerized tests of memory, attention, executive function, information processing speed including: verbal memory, non-verbal memory, go-no- go test, Stroop, staged information processing test, catch game. Brain imaging: SPECT	Patients with anoxic brain damage due to cardiac arrest for at least 6 months with who have completed two SPECT imaging and two cognitive evaluations	60 min of 100% oxygen at 1.5 ATA X 60 sessions	Significant improvem ent in the global cognitive scores with a mean relative change of 8% (p=0.006). The most prominent improvem ent was in executive functions indices, with 24% mean relative change (p=0.011).	Favors the use of HBOT in anoxic brain damage (systemic hypoperfusion) Small sample No control group

indices improved by mean relative change of 20% (p=0.06). Memory indices by mean relative change of 12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal		 			
improved by mean relative change of 20% (p=0.06). Memory indices by mean relative change of 12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal				Attention	
by mean relative change of 20% (p=0.06). Memory indices by mean relative change of 12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
relative change of 20% (p=0.06). Memory indices by mean relative change of 12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
change of 20% (p=0.06). Memory indices by mean relative change of 12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
20% (p=0.06). Memory indices by mean relative change of 12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal				relative	
(p=0.06). Memory indices by mean relative change of 12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal				change of	
Memory indices by mean relative change of 12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal				20%	
indices by mean relative change of 12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal				(p=0.06).	
indices by mean relative change of 12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal				Memory	
mean relative change of 12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
change of 12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal				relative	
12% (p=0.08). The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal				change of	
The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
The mean relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal				(p=0.08).	
relative changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
changes of all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
all patients revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
revealed significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
significant improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal				revealed	
improvem ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
ent (higher than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
than 10%) in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
in brain activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal				than 10%)	
activity in the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
the cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
cingulate gyrus, inferior frontal					
gyrus, inferior frontal					
inferior frontal					
frontal					
\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \				gyrus,	

perirhinal	
cortex,	
primary	
visual	
cortex	
and	
parietal	
lobe (BA	
Chen Prospective 46 patients NIHSS score Acute mild 60 mins of The Favors the use of HBOT in acute	
(2012) study (16 HBOT) ischemic 100% difference stroke	
stroke oxygen at of basal	
(NIHSS 0- 2 ATA X NIHSS Small sample	
14) within 10 scores	
48 hours sessions between Mild severity patients only	
after onset the HBOT	
without Started group and No objective imaging	
evidence of within 3-5 control	
hemorrhag days of group was Short follow up	
e and no stroke not	
thrombolyt statisticall	
ic therapy y	
recieved significant	
$(\mathbf{P} = 0.647)$	
and there	
was no	
statisticall	
y	
significant	
difference	
on early	
efficacy	

						between the groups (P = 0.140).	
						However,	
						compariso	
						n of late	
						efficacy	
						showed a	
						statisticall	
						y	
						significant difference	
						between	
						the groups	
						(P = 0.024)	
Yan	RCT	90 patients	Depression:	Patients	70 mins of	the	Favors the use of HBOT in the
(2015)		(30 HBOT,	Hamilton	within 4	100%	HAMD	subacute-chronic stage of stroke
(124)		30	depression scale	weeks after	oxygen at	scores also	0
		HBOT+Flu	(HAMD)	stroke	2 ATA X	showed	Small sample size
		oxetine)			20	better	_
			Neurological		sessions	improvem	Lack of negative control
			function:			ent in the	
			Scandinavian			hyperbaric	No objective imaging
			stroke scale			oxygen	
			(SSS)			combined	Small number of sessions/short time of
						group	treatment
						than the	
						other two	
						groups (p < 0.05).	
						There	
						There	

Bennett Meta- (2014) Acute Mortality Patients Acute Stroke With Mortality Patients Efficacy -			1			1	1	
in SSS scores between the three groups at the end of the study (p > 0.05) The score reduction rates of the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute stroke With Significant - No true pooling of RCTs								
Scores between the three groups at the end of the study (p > 0.05) The score reduction rates of the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group, were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute stroke 1.5-2 ATA No No conclusion due to: No true pooling of RCTs							differences	
between the three groups at the end of the study (p > 0.05) The score reduction rates of the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute (2014) analysis patients With No significant No No conclusion due to: - No true pooling of RCTs							in SSS	
the three groups at the end of the study (p > 0.05) The score reduction rates of the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute stroke With significant - No true pooling of RCTs							scores	
groups at the end of the study (p > 0.05) The score reduction rates of the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group, were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett (2014) Bennett Meta- analysis patients ### Mortality Acute stroke ### Acute Significant ### No Significant - No true pooling of RCTs							between	
the end of the study (p > 0.05) The score reduction rates of the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p < 0.05)							the three	
the end of the study (p > 0.05) The score reduction rates of the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p < 0.05)							groups at	
the study (p > 0.05) The score reduction rates of the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett Meta- (2014) Respect Meta- analysis The study (p > 0.05) The score reduction rates of the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) No conclusion due to: - No true pooling of RCTs								
The score reduction rates of the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute (2014) analysis patients stroke With Significant - No true pooling of RCTs								
Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute 1.5-2 ATA No No conclusion due to: (2014) analysis patients Stroke With significant - No true pooling of RCTs No Tete treatment Reduction rates of the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) No conclusion due to: No No conclusion due to: No treatment Stroke With Significant No No conclusion due to: No No true pooling of RCTs No No true pooling of RCTs No No No No No No No N								
rates of the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett Meta- (2014) Acute analysis patients Stroke With significant - No true pooling of RCTs								
the fluoxetine treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett (2014) Meta- analysis patients Acute stroke With significant - No true pooling of RCTs								
Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute 1.5-2 ATA No No conclusion due to: No true pooling of RCTs								
treatment group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett (2014) Meta- analysis patients treatment group, were 70%, 76.7% and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) No conclusion due to: - No true pooling of RCTs								
group, HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett (2014) Meta- analysis patients Acute stroke With Significant No No conclusion due to: - No true pooling of RCTs								
HBO treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett (2014) Meta- analysis patients HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) No conclusion due to: - No true pooling of RCTs								
treatment group, and combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute (2014) analysis patients Acute stroke With significant - No true pooling of RCTs								
Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute stroke Stroke With Significant No true pooling of RCTs RCTs								
Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute stroke Stroke With Significant No true pooling of RCTs Combined HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) No conclusion due to: - No true pooling of RCTs								
Bennett Meta- (2014) Meta- analysis patients HBO treatment group were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) No conclusion due to: stroke With significant - No true pooling of RCTs								
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$								
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$								
were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) Bennett Meta- (2014) Meta- analysis patients Meta- stroke With Were 70%, 76.7%, and 90%, respectivel y (p<0.05) No conclusion due to: - No true pooling of RCTs								
Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute stroke With significant - No true pooling of RCTs								
Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute stroke With significant - No true pooling of RCTs								
Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute 1.5-2 ATA No No conclusion due to: (2014) analysis patients stroke With significant - No true pooling of RCTs								
Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute 1.5-2 ATA No No conclusion due to: (2014) analysis patients stroke With significant - No true pooling of RCTs								
Bennett Meta- 70-144 Mortality Acute 1.5-2 ATA No No conclusion due to: (2014) analysis patients stroke With significant - No true pooling of RCTs								
(2014) analysis patients stroke With significant - No true pooling of RCTs	Bennett	Meta-	70-144	Mortality	Acute	1.5-2 ATA		No conclusion due to:
				1.101 1.10 1				
	(103)	J ~	F	Efficacy –		different	differences	

different scales	protocols	in case	
of functional	F-0000015	fatality	
outcome		rates were	
outcome		noted (six	
		deaths	
		(8%) in	
		those	
		receiving	
		HBOT	
		versus six	
		(8.5%)	
		among those	
		given	
		sham	
		therapy).	
		In the	
		НВОТ	
		group,	
		three of 38	
		participan	
		ts (8%)	
		were	
		judged to	
		have	
		received	
		'no effect'	
		from	
		therapy	
		and were	
		unable to	
		care for	

Boussi- Rahav (2014) (119)	Retrospectiv e analysis	91 patients	Cognitive functions: Delayed memory, immediate memory, verbal memory Total memory Total memory index Brain imaging: SPECT	>3 months post stroke with 2 cognitive evaluations	90 mins of 100% oxygen at 2 ATA X 40-60 sessions	themselves , compared with seven of 32 cases (22%) in the control group (p=0.12) There was a significant improvem ent in all memory scores after HBO2 therapy compared with baseline (p<0.0005). The percentage s of relative change for	Favors the use of HBOT in chronic stroke -retrospective analysis -no control group -no strict protocol of 40-60 sessions

are
presented
in Figure
4. The
change
percentage
s were
found to
be as
follows:
18% for
the TMI
measure,
43.5% for
IVM,
48.6%
for DVM,
17.5% for
INVM and
18% for
DNVM.
There
were 35–
46% of the
patients
who
achieved
significant
clinical
improvem
ent in the

different
memory
measures,
out of
which a
very high
percentage
78.9 –
100%)
recovered,
that is,
passed the
cutoff
score
differentia
ting
between
impaired
and
unimpaire
d d
population
s in their
posttreatm
ent
assessment
•
These
clinical
changes
were

						found to be in good agreement with metabolic brain changes assessed by SPECT brain imaging.	
Churchi Il 592012 (120)	Prospective study	22 patients	Neuropsycholog ical measures, questionnaires, neurologic exams, physical functioning measures Brain imaging: Auditory MRI, MRI Spectroscopy, CT-angio	Stroke at least 1 year prior to inclusion	60 min of 100% oxygen at 1.5 ATA X 60 sessions	Participan ts reported improvem ents in symptoms, such as memory and balance/ coordinati on. No standardiz ed testing showed clinically important improvem ent.	No conclusion due to: Small sample size Vague inclusion criteria No control group

Efrati	RCT	59 patients	Neurological	Stroke	90	Clinical	Favors the use of HBOT in chronic
(2013)		(29 HBOT)	function:	within 6-36	minutes of	evaluation	stroke
(125)			NIHSS	months	100%	s revealed	342 323
			1 (22200	prior to	oxygen at	statisticall	Randomized controlled trial with
			Quality of life:	inclusion	2ATA X	y	control group and crossover design
			ADL, EQ5D,		40	significant	control group and crossover design
			EQ-VAS		sessions	improvem	Selection of patients with proper
			LQ VIID		Sessions	ents in the	functional imaging
			Brain imaging:			NIHSS	Tunetional imaging
			SPECT			measures	
			SILCI			following	
						treatment	
						both in the	
						HBOT-	
						treated	
						group	
						(p=0.004)	
						and in the	
						HBOT-	
						treated	
						cross	
						group	
						(p<0.0001)	
						. The	
						significanc	
						e of these	
						improvem	
						ents is	
						further	
						noticeable	
						when	
						compared	

		1
	to the	
	control	
	(non-	
	treatment)	
	period of	
	the cross	
	group	
	during	
	which the	
	scores did	
	not change	
	at all	
	(p=0.43).	
	Clinical	
	evaluation	
	s revealed	
	statisticall	
	y significant	
	improvem ents in the	
	ADL score	
	following	
	treatment	
	both in the	
	HBOT-	
	treated	
	group	
	(p<0.001)	
	and the	
	cross	
	group	

	after the	
	cross to	
	the	
	HBOT-	
	treated	
	(p<0.0001	
). The	
	significanc	
	e of these	
	improvem	
	ents is	
	further	
	noticeable	
	when	
	compared	
	to the	
	control	
	(non-	
	treatment)	
	period of	
	the cross	
	group	
	during	
	which	
	there was	
	no change	
	in the	
	ADL	
	scores	
	p=0.42	
	compared	
	to baseline	

	y improper follo treat both the HBC treat group (p<0 compute to base and HBC treat cross group (p<0 compute to treat treat cross group (p<0 compute treat tr	ficantl foved wing ment, for OT- ed p .0001 pared line) the OT- ed g p .0001 pared
	(p<0	.0001
	grou (n<0	P .0001
	base	line)
	НВС	T-
	treat	ed
	grou	p
	(p<0	.0001
	to pr	e-
	HBC	oT),
	while	
		ewas
	no	
		ovem
	ent	
		wing

period (p=0.122 compared to baseline, p=0.009 for compariso n between the groups). Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that \$5% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and \$5% had mild improvem		1			
(p=0.122 compared to baseline, p=0.009 for compariso n between the groups). Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem				the control	
compared to baseline, p=0.009 for compariso n between the groups). Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem				period	
to baseline, p=0.009 for compariso n between the groups). Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem				(p=0.122)	
to baseline, p=0.009 for compariso n between the groups). Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem				compared	
p=0.009 for compariso n between the groups). Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
p=0.009 for compariso n between the groups). Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem				baseline,	
for compariso n between the groups). Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
compariso n between the groups). Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
n between the groups). Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
the groups). Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem				n between	
groups). Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
Compariso n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
n of brain activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem				Compariso	
activity improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem				n of broin	
improvem ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
ent following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
following the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
the HBOT revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
revealed that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem				Iollowing	
that 55% of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
of the treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
treated group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
group had significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
significant improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
improvem ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem				group had	
ent after HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
HBOT and 35% had mild improvem					
and 35% had mild improvem					
had mild improvem					
had mild improvem				and 35%	
improvem					
ent. In the					
				ent. In the	

cross group, during the first (control) period 36% had mild improvem ent and only 6.2% had significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
during the first (control) period 36% had mild improvem ent and only 6.2% had significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
first (control) period 36% had mild improvem ent and only 6.2% had significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
(control) period 36% had mild improvem ent and only 6.2% had significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
period 36% had mild improvem ent and only 6.2% had significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
period 36% had mild improvem ent and only 6.2% had significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
36% had mild improvem ent and only 6.2% had significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
mild improvem ent and only 6.2% had significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
improvem ent and only 6.2% had significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
ent and only 6.2% had significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
only 6.2% had significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
had significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
significant improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
improvem ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
ent (p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
(p<0.001). After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
After HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
HBOT, the cross group demonstra ted 43%
cross group demonstra ted 43%
group demonstra ted 43%
demonstra ted 43%
ted 43%
significant
improvem
ent and
29% mild
ent ent
(p<0.001)
(data not
shown in

Chen	Case report	1 patient	Neurological	None:	60 mins of	neurologic	No conclusion due to:
(2011)	•	•	function:	ischemic	100%	al	Case report
(104)			NIHSS, mRS,	stroke 3	oxygen at	function,	-
			MMSE, GCS,	days prior	2 ATA X	showed	
			BI, MoCA	to	10	prominent	
				treatment	sessions	improvem	
			Brain imaging:			ent	
			SPECT			immediate	
			CT perfusion			ly after	
			_			HBC^T	
						and also at	
						one and	
						three	
						months.	
						His	
						regional	
						cerebral	
						blood flow	
						(rCBF)	
						with	
						99mTc-	
						ethyl	
						cysteinate	
						dimmer	
						(99Tc	
						ECD)	
						brain	
						single-	
						photon	
						emission	
						computed	
						tomograph	

Gibson (2010) (105)	Case series	12 patients	Neurological exam	Neurologic al signs after cardiac surgery	Table RN62 followed by 1-3 2 ATA sessions	y (SPECT) did show the ameliorati on.Improv ed penumbra areas were also noted in the computed tomograph y perfusion (CTP) image study. 8/12 patients had partial or complete resolution of neurologic al signs. 3 patients demonstra ted minimal neurologic	Could not conclude due to: -Air embolism as an origin in several cases -retrospective analysis -small sample size -lack of control group -no objective imaging
---------------------------	-------------	-------------	----------------------	---	--	---	--

						impuovom	
						improvem	
						ent and	
						one died a	
						rapid	
						neurologic	
	D C/F	20 41 4	N7 1 1 1		(0)	al death.	E 41 CANDOTT
Imai	RCT	38 patients	Neurological	Acute	60	No	Favors the use of HBOT in acute
(2006)			function:	anterior	minutes of	significant	embolic ischemic stroke
(110)			NIHSS, mRS	circulation	100%	differences	-combination of Edavorone – true
				embolic	oxygen at	were	effect of HBOT unknown
				ischemic	2 ATA X	present in	-small sample size
				stroke	7 sessions	median	-lack of objective imaging in analysis
				within 48		NIHSS	
				hours prior		scores at	
				to		baseline or	
				inclusion,		at 7 days	
				NIHSS>4		(NS). On	
						the other	
						hand,	
						median	
						intergroup	
						improvem	
						ent in	
						NIHSS	
						was 5 in	
						the HBOT	
						group	
						compared	
						to 1 in the	
						control	
						group	
						(p<0.01).	

						6 had favorable outcome at 90 days in the HBOT groups compared to only 1 in the control group (p=0.045). No difference in mortality rate at 90 days between the 2 groups (p=0.302)	
McCor mick (2011) (106)	Retrospectiv e analysis	22 patients	Neurological examination	Acute stroke within hours	2-3 ATA X 1 session	In the one- to five- hour post- stroke group of 13 patients, nine (41% of 22) had	Favors the use of HBOT in acute ischemic stroke -lack of control group -small sample size -retrospective analysis -No thrombolysis available in 1966

recovery
or
recovery
with
relapse.
Only two
of the nine
had
permanent
recovery.
Past six
hours
post-
stroke,
only one
patient
(11% +/-
21% SE)
had
partial
recovery
with
relapse.
The other
eight
patients
who
received
treatment
past six
hours had
no

Lee (2008) (121)	Case report	1 patient	Neurological examination Brain imaging: MRI, MR spectroscopy	Subacute ischemic stroke – 20 days post insult	90 minutes of 100% oxygen at 2 ATA X 8 sessions	recovery at all. With each passing hour decreasing the chance of at least partial transient recovery by 62% - odds ratio: 0.38 (95% CI: 0.150.95), p=0.039 MRI and 1 H-MRS detected neither new ischemic lesions nor lactate peaks in the same areas and the patient showed clinical improvem	Could not conclude from case report
------------------------	-------------	-----------	--	--	--	---	-------------------------------------

						ent.	
Vila ((2005) (126)	Prospective study	26 patients (18 HBOT)	Neurological function: Gait and Equilibrium scale (GES) Barthel scale (BS) Unified scale for parkinson's diseae (UPDRS) Quality of life Instrumental Activities of daily life (IADL) Cognitive functions: Mini Mental state examination (MMSE)	Patients with cerebrovas cular disease by the combinatio n of at least 2 neurologica l deficits and objective cerebrovas cular changes in CT	minutes of 100% oxygen / 21% air at 2 ATA / 1.1 ATA X 10 sessions	There was a statisticall y significant improvem ent in all scales for the HBO2 group compared with the placebo group and in the placebo group after receiving HBO2 (p<0.05) including: MMSE, BS, IADL, GES, UPDRS, Veurologic al improvem ent	Favors the use of HBOT in chronic stroke: -small sample size -lack of randomization -lack of follow up objective imaging -short HBOT protocol: both time of sessions and number of sessions -selection of patients based on objective imaging

Lim (2001) (107)	Case report	1 patient	Neurological examination Perfusion MRI	Acute hemorrhag ic stroke within 24 hours from symptoms	90 minutes of 100% oxygen at 1.8 ATA X 9 sessions	greater in the sham group compared with the HBO-treated group, reaching significanc e in GCS,mRS and NIHSS. By the third treatment, her GCS had improved to 15/15. Motor power improved to 4/5 after the fourth treatment. Improvem ent was sustained at 3- and at 6-	Could not conclude due to case report
------------------	-------------	-----------	--	--	---	--	---------------------------------------

Nighogh ossian (1995) (112)	RCT	34 patients (17 HBOT, 17 Sham) Only 24 patients in analysis (14 vs.13)	Neurological function: Modified Rankin score, Trouillas scale, Orgogozo scale	Acute middle cerebral artery ischemic stroke within 24 hours	40 minutes of 100% oxygen at 1.5 ATA X 10 sesisons	months follow-up. HBOT shows an increase in rCBV immediate ly around the hematoma after HBOT There was a significant difference between the two groups at the 1-year follow-up according to the mean scores on the Orgogozo (P<0.02) and Trouillas	Could not conclude due to: -small sample size -lack of objective imaging measure -short session time -no thrombolysis at 1995 -no time to treatment stratification
--------------------------------------	-----	--	--	--	--	--	--

						whereas the	
						Rankin	
						scale score	
						did not	
						show any	
						difference	
						(P<0.11).	
						Conversel	
						y, the	
						compariso	
						n of the	
						pretherape	
						utic and	
						posttherap	
						eutic	
						differences	
						in the two	
						groups at	
						6 months	
						and 1 year	
						did not	
						show any	
						statistical	
						significanc	
Andores	RCT	20 (20	Normals siss!	Acute/suba	60	e At 4	Could not conclude due to:
Anderso n (1991)	KCI	39 (20 HBOT, 19	Neurological examination	cute/suba	minutes of	months,	
(113)		Sham).	examiliation	anterior	100%	monus, air-treated	-non objective imaging based selection
(113)		27 included	Brain imaging:	circulation		patients	of patients – HBOT patients had larger infracts in CT.
		in final	infarct size on	ischemic	oxygen at 1.5 ATA	had	-lack of time to treatment
		analysis	CT	stroke	three	improved	stratification
		alialysis		SHUKE	unree	miproveu	Su aulicauvii

within 2	daily up	by	-small sample size
weeks	to 15	15.9±3.2	-no thrombolysis in 1991
prior to	sessions,	points	-1.5 ATA as sham treatment
inclusion	Compare	(mean+SE	THE TITTE US SHAME OF CASHIOIN
	d with 60	M, p<	
	minutes of	0.0003)	
	21%	and	
	oxygen at	oxygen-	
	1.5 ATA	treated	
	three	patients by	
	daily up	12.2±4.8	
	to 15	points	
	sessions	(p<0.03).	
	Sessions	The	
		difference	
		between	
		groups,	
		although	
		not	
		significant.	
		Based on	
		CT scan	
		data from	
		12 air-	
		treated	
		patients	
		and 15	
		oxygen-	
		treated	
		patients,	
		infarct	
		volumes at	

						4 months were 29.0±12.2 and 49.2+11.7 cm3, respectivel y (two- tailed / test, p=0.25).	
Neurba uer (1983) (122)	Case report	1 patient	Neurological examination	Chronic ischemia – small vessels stenosis	100% oxygen at 1.5-2 ATA X unknown number of sessions		Could not conclude from case report
Kapp (1981) (116)	Uncontrolle d prospective study	22 patients	Neurological examination	Anterior circulation acute/subac ute stroke	100% oxygen at 1.5 ATA for 40 minutes X 14 sessions	Ten (45%) patients improved motor function. Out of 14 patients who had dysphasia, six (43%) had improvem ent in speech.	Favors the use of HBOT in acute/subacute HBOT: -small sample size -lack of control group -hetergonous time delay to treatment -no treatment within 2-6 hours from event -no proper statistical analysis -short HBOT protocol

T	T	1		
			Among the	
			responders	
			,	
			, improvem	
			ent was	
			seen in the	
			first two	
			session.	
			Two	
			patients	
			who	
			received	
			HBOT	
			within 1	
			hour to	
			event had	
			complete	
			recovery.	
			Authors	
			report	
			there's no	
			evidence	
			for	
			improved	
			results if	
			treatment	
			is started	
			in the first	
			24 hours	
			compared	
			to the first	
			week.	
			WCIA.	

						TI arres	
						However,	
						no patients	
						were	
						treated	
						between 2	
						and 6	
						hours to	
						event.	
						There was	
						a positive	
						but not	
						absolute	
						correlation	
						between	
						partial	
						deficit and	
						response	
						to HBOT.	
						There was	
						a non	
						absolute	
						correlation	
						between	
						small	
						infarct size	
						and	
						response	
						to HBOT.	
Lebedev	Unknown	124	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown	It was	Could not conclude to lack of details
(1983)	design	patients				established	of study
(117)		1				that the	- J
						depth of	
		1				acpui oi	

unconscio
usness and
the motor
and
aphasic
disorders
decreased
during a
HBOT
session,
but the
effect was
usually
short-
lived.
Aggravati
on of the
patients'
condition
in the first
week of
the
disease,
evidently
caused by
increase of
cerebral
edema,
occurred
much less
frequently
using

						HBOT. The number of patients with regression of the	
						neurologic al symptoms was practically	
						the same with and without the use of	
						HBO, but the regression of the neurologic	
						al defects was most evident in patients exposed to	
Sarno (1972)	Case series	16 patients	Neurological examination Cognitive evaluation	Unknown	Unknown	HBOT. No improvem ent in auditory comprehe	Could not conclude from small case series without control and lack of details

					1		
						nsion or	
						functional	
						communca	
						tion post	
						HBOT	
Hart	Case report	1 patient	Neuological	Chronic	120	There was	Could not conclude from case report
(1971)			examination	stroke 2	minutes of	a	
(123)				months	100%	significant	
			EEG	after event	oxygen at	improvem	
					2.5 ATA	ent in	
					X 30	motor	
					sessions	function of	
						the upper	
						limb. EEG	
						changes	
						were	
						interprete	
						d as sign	
						of	
						improvem	
_	G 4	4	NT 1 1 1	TT	1505	ent.	
Ingvar	Case reports	4 patients	Neurological	Unknown	1.5-2.5	3 out 4	Could not conclude from 4 case
(1965)			examination		hours of	patients	reports and lack of details
(108)					100%	had	
			EEG		oxygen at	beneficial	
					2-2.5 ATA	effects	
					for	from	
					unknown	HBOT.	
					number of		
					sessions		

References

- 1. Bath PM, Lees KR. ABC of arterial and venous disease. Acute stroke. Bmj. 2000;320(7239):920-3.
- 2. Murray CJ, Lopez AD. Mortality by cause for eight regions of the world: Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet. 1997;349(9061):1269-76.
- 3. Towfighi A, Saver JL. Stroke declines from third to fourth leading cause of death in the United States: historical perspective and challenges ahead. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2011;42(8):2351-5.
- 4. Bogousslavsky J, Aarli J, Kimura J, Board of Trustees WFoN. Stroke: time for a global campaign? Cerebrovascular diseases. 2003;16(2):111-3.
- 5. Bonita R. Epidemiology of stroke. Lancet. 1992;339(8789):342-4.
- 6. Bamford J, Sandercock P, Dennis M, Burn J, Warlow C. Classification and natural history of clinically identifiable subtypes of cerebral infarction. Lancet. 1991;337(8756):1521-6.
- 7. Donnan GA, Fisher M, Macleod M, Davis SM. Stroke. Lancet. 2008;371(9624):1612-23.
- 8. Tatemichi TK, Desmond DW, Stern Y, Paik M, Sano M, Bagiella E. Cognitive impairment after stroke: frequency, patterns, and relationship to functional abilities. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 1994;57(2):202-7.
- 9. Pedersen PM, Vinter K, Olsen TS. Aphasia after stroke: type, severity and prognosis. The Copenhagen aphasia study. Cerebrovascular diseases. 2004;17(1):35-43.
- 10. Martino R, Foley N, Bhogal S, Diamant N, Speechley M, Teasell R. Dysphagia after stroke: incidence, diagnosis, and pulmonary complications. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2005;36(12):2756-63.
- 11. West R, Hill K, Hewison J, Knapp P, House A. Psychological disorders after stroke are an important influence on functional outcomes: a prospective cohort study. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2010;41(8):1723-7.
- 12. Addo J, Ayerbe L, Mohan KM, Crichton S, Sheldenkar A, Chen R, et al. Socioeconomic status and stroke: an updated review. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2012;43(4):1186-91.
- 13. Dewey HM, Thrift AG, Mihalopoulos C, Carter R, Macdonell RA, McNeil JJ, et al. Cost of stroke in Australia from a societal perspective: results from the North East Melbourne Stroke Incidence Study (NEMESIS). Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2001;32(10):2409-16.
- 14. Sudlow CL, Warlow CP. Comparable studies of the incidence of stroke and its pathological types: results from an international collaboration. International Stroke Incidence Collaboration. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 1997;28(3):491-9.
- 15. Adams HP, Jr., Bendixen BH, Kappelle LJ, Biller J, Love BB, Gordon DL, et al. Classification of subtype of acute ischemic stroke. Definitions for use in a multicenter clinical trial. TOAST. Trial of Org 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 1993;24(1):35-41.
- 16. Markus HS. Cerebral perfusion and stroke. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry. 2004;75(3):353-61.
- 17. Atkins ER, Brodie FG, Rafelt SE, Panerai RB, Robinson TG. Dynamic cerebral autoregulation is compromised acutely following mild ischaemic stroke but not transient ischaemic attack. Cerebrovascular diseases. 2010;29(3):228-35.
- 18. Aries MJ, Elting JW, De Keyser J, Kremer BP, Vroomen PC. Cerebral autoregulation in stroke: a review of transcranial Doppler studies. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2010;41(11):2697-704.

- 19. Fisher M, Garcia JH. Evolving stroke and the ischemic penumbra. Neurology. 1996;47(4):884-8.
- 20. Deb P, Sharma S, Hassan KM. Pathophysiologic mechanisms of acute ischemic stroke: An overview with emphasis on therapeutic significance beyond thrombolysis. Pathophysiology: the official journal of the International Society for Pathophysiology / ISP. 2010;17(3):197-218.
- 21. Doyle KP, Simon RP, Stenzel-Poore MP. Mechanisms of ischemic brain damage. Neuropharmacology. 2008;55(3):310-8.
- 22. Kamel H, Iadecola C. Brain-immune interactions and ischemic stroke: clinical implications. Archives of neurology. 2012;69(5):576-81.
- 23. del Zoppo GJ, Becker KJ, Hallenbeck JM. Inflammation after stroke: is it harmful? Archives of neurology. 2001;58(4):669-72.
- 24. Klatzo I. Pathophysiological aspects of brain edema. Acta neuropathologica. 1987;72(3):236-9.
- 25. Simard JM, Kent TA, Chen M, Tarasov KV, Gerzanich V. Brain oedema in focal ischaemia: molecular pathophysiology and theoretical implications. The Lancet Neurology. 2007;6(3):258-68.
- 26. Qureshi AI, Tuhrim S, Broderick JP, Batjer HH, Hondo H, Hanley DF. Spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(19):1450-60.
- 27. Wagner KR, Xi G, Hua Y, Kleinholz M, de Courten-Myers GM, Myers RE, et al. Lobar intracerebral hemorrhage model in pigs: rapid edema development in perihematomal white matter. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 1996;27(3):490-7.
- 28. Wagner KR, Xi G, Hua Y, Kleinholz M, de Courten-Myers GM, Myers RE. Early metabolic alterations in edematous perihematomal brain regions following experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. Journal of neurosurgery. 1998;88(6):1058-65.
- 29. Mayer SA, Lignelli A, Fink ME, Kessler DB, Thomas CE, Swarup R, et al. Perilesional blood flow and edema formation in acute intracerebral hemorrhage: a SPECT study. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 1998;29(9):1791-8.
- 30. Astrup J, Symon L, Branston NM, Lassen NA. Cortical evoked potential and extracellular K+ and H+ at critical levels of brain ischemia. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 1977;8(1):51-7.
- 31. Siddique MS, Fernandes HM, Wooldridge TD, Fenwick JD, Slomka P, Mendelow AD. Reversible ischemia around intracerebral hemorrhage: a single-photon emission computerized tomography study. Journal of neurosurgery. 2002;96(4):736-41.
- 32. Neubauer RA, James P. Cerebral oxygenation and the recoverable brain. Neurological research. 1998;20 Suppl 1:S33-6.
- 33. Tsivgoulis G, Alexandrov AV, Chang J, Sharma VK, Hoover SL, Lao AY, et al. Safety and outcomes of intravenous thrombolysis in stroke mimics: a 6-year, single-care center study and a pooled analysis of reported series. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2011;42(6):1771-4.
- 34. Kikuchi K, Miura N, Kawahara KI, Murai Y, Morioka M, Lapchak PA, et al. Edaravone (Radicut), a free radical scavenger, is a potentially useful addition to thrombolytic therapy in patients with acute ischemic stroke. Biomedical reports. 2013;1(1):7-12.
- 35. Badhiwala JH, Nassiri F, Alhazzani W, Selim MH, Farrokhyar F, Spears J, et al. Endovascular Thrombectomy for Acute Ischemic Stroke: A Meta-analysis. Jama. 2015;314(17):1832-43.
- 36. Campbell BC, Donnan GA, Lees KR, Hacke W, Khatri P, Hill MD, et al. Endovascular stent thrombectomy: the new standard of care for large vessel ischaemic stroke. The Lancet Neurology. 2015;14(8):846-54.

- 37. Fiskum G. Mitochondrial participation in ischemic and traumatic neural cell death. Journal of neurotrauma. 2000;17(10):843-55.
- 38. Tymianski M, Tator CH. Normal and abnormal calcium homeostasis in neurons: a basis for the pathophysiology of traumatic and ischemic central nervous system injury. Neurosurgery. 1996;38(6):1176-95.
- 39. Reza Noorian A, Nogueira R, Gupta R. Neuroprotection in acute ischemic stroke. Journal of neurosurgical sciences. 2011;55(2):127-38.
- 40. Sahota P, Savitz SI. Investigational therapies for ischemic stroke: neuroprotection and neurorecovery. Neurotherapeutics: the journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics. 2011;8(3):434-51.
- 41. Hankey GJ, Jamrozik K, Broadhurst RJ, Forbes S, Burvill PW, Anderson CS, et al. Five-year survival after first-ever stroke and related prognostic factors in the Perth Community Stroke Study. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2000;31(9):2080-6.
- 42. Johnston SC, Gress DR, Browner WS, Sidney S. Short-term prognosis after emergency department diagnosis of TIA. Jama. 2000;284(22):2901-6.
- 43. Nakayama H, Jorgensen HS, Raaschou HO, Olsen TS. Recovery of upper extremity function in stroke patients: the Copenhagen Stroke Study. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 1994;75(4):394-8.
- 44. Kelly-Hayes M, Beiser A, Kase CS, Scaramucci A, D'Agostino RB, Wolf PA. The influence of gender and age on disability following ischemic stroke: the Framingham study. Journal of stroke and cerebrovascular diseases: the official journal of National Stroke Association. 2003;12(3):119-26.
- 45. Nilsen DM, Gillen G, Geller D, Hreha K, Osei E, Saleem GT. Effectiveness of interventions to improve occupational performance of people with motor impairments after stroke: an evidence-based review. The American journal of occupational therapy: official publication of the American Occupational Therapy Association. 2015;69(1):6901180030p1-9.
- 46. Barker-Collo SL. Depression and anxiety 3 months post stroke: prevalence and correlates. Archives of clinical neuropsychology: the official journal of the National Academy of Neuropsychologists. 2007;22(4):519-31.
- 47. Hildebrand MW. Effectiveness of interventions for adults with psychological or emotional impairment after stroke: an evidence-based review. The American journal of occupational therapy: official publication of the American Occupational Therapy Association. 2015;69(1):6901180050p1-9.
- 48. Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, Benjamin EJ, Berry JD, Borden WB, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2013 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2013;127(1):e6-e245.
- 49. Duncan PW, Goldstein LB, Matchar D, Divine GW, Feussner J. Measurement of motor recovery after stroke. Outcome assessment and sample size requirements. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 1992;23(8):1084-9.
- 50. Yu M, Xue Y, Liang W, Zhang Y, Zhang Z. Protection mechanism of early hyperbaric oxygen therapy in rats with permanent cerebral ischemia. Journal of physical therapy science. 2015;27(10):3271-4.
- 51. Pushkov D, Nicholson JD, Michowiz S, Novitzky I, Weiss S, Ben Hemou M, et al. Relative neuroprotective effects hyperbaric oxygen treatment and TLR4 knockout in a mouse model of temporary middle cerebral artery occlusion. The International journal of neuroscience. 2016;126(2):174-81.
- 52. Michalski D, Hobohm C, Weise C, Pelz J, Heindl M, Kamprad M, et al. Interrelations between blood-brain barrier permeability and matrix metalloproteinases

- are differently affected by tissue plasminogen activator and hyperoxia in a rat model of embolic stroke. Medical gas research. 2012;2(1):2.
- 53. Qin Z, Karabiyikoglu M, Hua Y, Silbergleit R, He Y, Keep RF, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen-induced attenuation of hemorrhagic transformation after experimental focal transient cerebral ischemia. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2007;38(4):1362-7.
- 54. Sun L, Strelow H, Mies G, Veltkamp R. Oxygen therapy improves energy metabolism in focal cerebral ischemia. Brain research. 2011;1415:103-8.
- 55. Sun L, Marti HH, Veltkamp R. Hyperbaric oxygen reduces tissue hypoxia and hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha expression in focal cerebral ischemia. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2008;39(3):1000-6.
- 56. Veltkamp R, Siebing DA, Sun L, Heiland S, Bieber K, Marti HH, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen reduces blood-brain barrier damage and edema after transient focal cerebral ischemia. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2005;36(8):1679-83.
- 57. Gunther A, Kuppers-Tiedt L, Schneider PM, Kunert I, Berrouschot J, Schneider D, et al. Reduced infarct volume and differential effects on glial cell activation after hyperbaric oxygen treatment in rat permanent focal cerebral ischaemia. The European journal of neuroscience. 2005;21(11):3189-94.
- 58. Miljkovic-Lolic M, Silbergleit R, Fiskum G, Rosenthal RE. Neuroprotective effects of hyperbaric oxygen treatment in experimental focal cerebral ischemia are associated with reduced brain leukocyte myeloperoxidase activity. Brain research. 2003;971(1):90-4.
- 59. Atochin DN, Fisher D, Demchenko IT, Thom SR. Neutrophil sequestration and the effect of hyperbaric oxygen in a rat model of temporary middle cerebral artery occlusion. Undersea & hyperbaric medicine: journal of the Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society, Inc. 2000;27(4):185-90.
- 60. Rink C, Roy S, Khan M, Ananth P, Kuppusamy P, Sen CK, et al. Oxygensensitive outcomes and gene expression in acute ischemic stroke. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism: official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 2010;30(7):1275-87.
- 61. Yin D, Zhou C, Kusaka I, Calvert JW, Parent AD, Nanda A, et al. Inhibition of apoptosis by hyperbaric oxygen in a rat focal cerebral ischemic model. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism: official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 2003;23(7):855-64.
- 62. Lou M, Chen Y, Ding M, Eschenfelder CC, Deuschl G. Involvement of the mitochondrial ATP-sensitive potassium channel in the neuroprotective effect of hyperbaric oxygenation after cerebral ischemia. Brain research bulletin. 2006;69(2):109-16.
- 63. Yang ZJ, Xie Y, Bosco GM, Chen C, Camporesi EM. Hyperbaric oxygenation alleviates MCAO-induced brain injury and reduces hydroxyl radical formation and glutamate release. European journal of applied physiology. 2010;108(3):513-22.
- 64. Lee YS, Chio CC, Chang CP, Wang LC, Chiang PM, Niu KC, et al. Long course hyperbaric oxygen stimulates neurogenesis and attenuates inflammation after ischemic stroke. Mediators of inflammation. 2013;2013:512978.
- 65. Chen C, Cui H, Li Z, Wang R, Zhou C. Normobaric oxygen for cerebral ischemic injury. Neural regeneration research. 2013;8(31):2885-94.
- 66. Yang L, Tang J, Chen Q, Jiang B, Zhang B, Tao Y, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning attenuates neuroinflammation after intracerebral hemorrhage in rats by regulating microglia characteristics. Brain research. 2015;1627:21-30.

- 67. Bian H, Hu Q, Liang X, Chen D, Li B, Tang J, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning attenuates hemorrhagic transformation through increasing PPARgamma in hyperglycemic MCAO rats. Experimental neurology. 2015;265:22-9.
- 68. Duan S, Shao G, Yu L, Ren C. Angiogenesis contributes to the neuroprotection induced by hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning against focal cerebral ischemia in rats. The International journal of neuroscience. 2015;125(8):625-34.
- 69. Gu GJ, Li YP, Peng ZY, Xu JJ, Kang ZM, Xu WG, et al. Mechanism of ischemic tolerance induced by hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning involves upregulation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha and erythropoietin in rats. Journal of applied physiology. 2008;104(4):1185-91.
- 70. Gao-Yu C, Cong-Yina D, Li-Jun Z, Fei L, Hua F. Effects of hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning on energy metabolism and glutamate level in the peri-infarct area following permanent MCAO. Undersea & hyperbaric medicine: journal of the Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society, Inc. 2011;38(2):91-9.
- 71. Sun L, Wolferts G, Veltkamp R. Oxygen therapy does not increase production and damage induced by reactive oxygen species in focal cerebral ischemia. Neuroscience letters. 2014;577:1-5.
- 72. Badr AE, Yin W, Mychaskiw G, Zhang JH. Effect of hyperbaric oxygen on striatal metabolites: a microdialysis study in awake freely moving rats after MCA occlusion. Brain research. 2001;916(1-2):85-90.
- 73. Li JS, Zhang W, Kang ZM, Ding SJ, Liu WW, Zhang JH, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning reduces ischemia-reperfusion injury by inhibition of apoptosis via mitochondrial pathway in rat brain. Neuroscience. 2009;159(4):1309-15.
- 74. Li Z, Liu W, Kang Z, Lv S, Han C, Yun L, et al. Mechanism of hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning in neonatal hypoxia-ischemia rat model. Brain research. 2008;1196:151-6.
- 75. Li J, Liu W, Ding S, Xu W, Guan Y, Zhang JH, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning induces tolerance against brain ischemia-reperfusion injury by upregulation of antioxidant enzymes in rats. Brain research. 2008;1210:223-9.
- 76. Eschenfelder CC, Krug R, Yusofi AF, Meyne JK, Herdegen T, Koch A, et al. Neuroprotection by oxygen in acute transient focal cerebral ischemia is dose dependent and shows superiority of hyperbaric oxygenation. Cerebrovascular diseases. 2008;25(3):193-201.
- 77. Badr AE, Yin W, Mychaskiw G, Zhang JH. Dual effect of HBO on cerebral infarction in MCAO rats. American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology. 2001;280(3):R766-70.
- 78. Xue L, Yu Q, Zhang H, Liu Y, Wang C, Wang Y. Effect of large dose hyperbaric oxygenation therapy on prognosis and oxidative stress of acute permanent cerebral ischemic stroke in rats. Neurological research. 2008;30(4):389-93.
- 79. Veltkamp R, Sun L, Herrmann O, Wolferts G, Hagmann S, Siebing DA, et al. Oxygen therapy in permanent brain ischemia: potential and limitations. Brain research. 2006;1107(1):185-91.
- 80. Sun L, Zhou W, Mueller C, Sommer C, Heiland S, Bauer AT, et al. Oxygen therapy reduces secondary hemorrhage after thrombolysis in thromboembolic cerebral ischemia. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism: official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 2010;30(9):1651-60.
- 81. Hu Q, Liang X, Chen D, Chen Y, Doycheva D, Tang J, et al. Delayed hyperbaric oxygen therapy promotes neurogenesis through reactive oxygen species/hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha/beta-catenin pathway in middle cerebral artery occlusion rats. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2014;45(6):1807-14.

- 82. Harch PG, Kriedt C, Van Meter KW, Sutherland RJ. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy improves spatial learning and memory in a rat model of chronic traumatic brain injury. Brain research. 2007;1174:120-9.
- 83. Yang Y, Zhang YG, Lin GA, Xie HQ, Pan HT, Huang BQ, et al. The effects of different hyperbaric oxygen manipulations in rats after traumatic brain injury. Neuroscience letters. 2014;563:38-43.
- 84. Zhou Z, Daugherty WP, Sun D, Levasseur JE, Altememi N, Hamm RJ, et al. Protection of mitochondrial function and improvement in cognitive recovery in rats treated with hyperbaric oxygen following lateral fluid-percussion injury. Journal of neurosurgery. 2007;106(4):687-94.
- 85. Niklas A, Brock D, Schober R, Schulz A, Schneider D. Continuous measurements of cerebral tissue oxygen pressure during hyperbaric oxygenation--HBO effects on brain edema and necrosis after severe brain trauma in rabbits. Journal of the neurological sciences. 2004;219(1-2):77-82.
- 86. Reinert M, Barth A, Rothen HU, Schaller B, Takala J, Seiler RW. Effects of cerebral perfusion pressure and increased fraction of inspired oxygen on brain tissue oxygen, lactate and glucose in patients with severe head injury. Acta neurochirurgica. 2003;145(5):341-9; discussion 9-50.
- 87. Calvert JW, Cahill J, Zhang JH. Hyperbaric oxygen and cerebral physiology. Neurological research. 2007;29(2):132-41.
- 88. Mu J, Ostrowski RP, Soejima Y, Rolland WB, Krafft PR, Tang J, et al. Delayed hyperbaric oxygen therapy induces cell proliferation through stabilization of cAMP responsive element binding protein in the rat model of MCAo-induced ischemic brain injury. Neurobiology of disease. 2013;51:133-43.
- 89. Yang YJ, Wang XL, Yu XH, Wang X, Xie M, Liu CT. Hyperbaric oxygen induces endogenous neural stem cells to proliferate and differentiate in hypoxic-ischemic brain damage in neonatal rats. Undersea & hyperbaric medicine: journal of the Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society, Inc. 2008;35(2):113-29.
- 90. Chang CC, Lee YC, Chang WN, Chen SS, Lui CC, Chang HW, et al. Damage of white matter tract correlated with neuropsychological deficits in carbon monoxide intoxication after hyperbaric oxygen therapy. Journal of neurotrauma. 2009;26(8):1263-70.
- 91. Vilela DS, Lazarini PR, Da Silva CF. Effects of hyperbaric oxygen therapy on facial nerve regeneration. Acta oto-laryngologica. 2008;128(9):1048-52.
- 92. Haapaniemi T, Nylander G, Kanje M, Dahlin L. Hyperbaric oxygen treatment enhances regeneration of the rat sciatic nerve. Experimental neurology. 1998;149(2):433-8.
- 93. Bradshaw PO, Nelson AG, Fanton JW, Yates T, Kagan-Hallet KS. Effect of hyperbaric oxygenation on peripheral nerve regeneration in adult male rabbits. Undersea & hyperbaric medicine: journal of the Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society, Inc. 1996;23(2):107-13.
- 94. Mukoyama M, Iida M, Sobue I. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for peripheral nerve damage induced in rabbits with clioquinol. Experimental neurology. 1975;47(3):371-80.
- 95. Zhang JH, Lo T, Mychaskiw G, Colohan A. Mechanisms of hyperbaric oxygen and neuroprotection in stroke. Pathophysiology: the official journal of the International Society for Pathophysiology / ISP. 2005;12(1):63-77.
- 96. Duan S, Shao G, Yu L, Ren C. Angiogenesis contributes to the neuroprotection induced by hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning against focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Int J Neurosci. 2014.

- 97. Peng ZR, Yang AL, Yang QD. The effect of hyperbaric oxygen on intracephalic angiogenesis in rats with intracerebral hemorrhage. J Neurol Sci. 2014;342(1-2):114-23.
- 98. Lin KC, Niu KC, Tsai KJ, Kuo JR, Wang LC, Chio CC, et al. Attenuating inflammation but stimulating both angiogenesis and neurogenesis using hyperbaric oxygen in rats with traumatic brain injury. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2012;72(3):650-9.
- 99. Kuffler DP. The role of hyperbaric oxygen therapy in enhancing the rate of wound healing with a focus on axon regeneration. Puerto Rico health sciences journal. 2011;30(1):35-42.
- 100. Lin KC, Niu KC, Tsai KJ, Kuo JR, Wang LC, Chio CC, et al. Attenuating inflammation but stimulating both angiogenesis and neurogenesis using hyperbaric oxygen in rats with traumatic brain injury. The journal of trauma and acute care surgery. 2012;72(3):650-9.
- 101. Chen J, Zhang ZG, Li Y, Wang L, Xu YX, Gautam SC, et al. Intravenous administration of human bone marrow stromal cells induces angiogenesis in the ischemic boundary zone after stroke in rats. Circ Res. 2003;92(6):692-9.
- 102. Jiang Q, Zhang ZG, Ding GL, Zhang L, Ewing JR, Wang L, et al. Investigation of neural progenitor cell induced angiogenesis after embolic stroke in rat using MRI. NeuroImage. 2005;28(3):698-707.
- 103. Bennett MH, Weibel S, Wasiak J, Schnabel A, French C, Kranke P. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for acute ischaemic stroke. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2014;11:CD004954.
- 104. Chen SY, Huang E, Wang V, Fan YM, Ho CF, Yip PK. Improvement of clinical outcome and cerebral perfusion in a patient of atherosclerotic cerebral infarction after repetitive hyperbaric oxygen treatment--a case report and literature review. Undersea & hyperbaric medicine: journal of the Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society, Inc. 2011;38(5):375-9.
- 105. Gibson AJ, Davis FM. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy in the treatment of post cardiac surgical strokes--a case series and review of the literature. Anaesthesia and intensive care. 2010;38(1):175-84.
- 106. McCormick JG, Houle TT, Saltzman HA, Whaley RC, Roy RC. Treatment of acute stroke with hyperbaric oxygen: time window for efficacy. Undersea & hyperbaric medicine: journal of the Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society, Inc. 2011;38(5):321-34.
- 107. Lim J, Lim WK, Yeo TT, Sitoh YY, Low E. Management of haemorrhagic stroke with hyperbaric oxygen therapy--a case report. Singapore medical journal. 2001:42(5):220-3.
- 108. Ingvar DH, Lassen NA. Treatment of Focal Cerebral Ischemia with Hyperbaric Oxygen. Report of 4 Cases. Acta neurologica Scandinavica. 1965;41:92-5.
- 109. Chen CH, Chen SY, Wang V, Chen CC, Wang KC, Chen CH, et al. Effects of repetitive hyperbaric oxygen treatment in patients with acute cerebral infarction: a pilot study. TheScientificWorldJournal. 2012;2012:694703.
- 110. Imai K, Mori T, Izumoto H, Takabatake N, Kunieda T, Watanabe M. Hyperbaric oxygen combined with intravenous edaravone for treatment of acute embolic stroke: a pilot clinical trial. Neurologia medico-chirurgica. 2006;46(8):373-8; discussion 8.
- 111. Rusyniak DE, Kirk MA, May JD, Kao LW, Brizendine EJ, Welch JL, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy in acute ischemic stroke: results of the Hyperbaric Oxygen in Acute Ischemic Stroke Trial Pilot Study. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2003;34(2):571-4.

- 112. Nighoghossian N, Trouillas P, Adeleine P, Salord F. Hyperbaric oxygen in the treatment of acute ischemic stroke. A double-blind pilot study. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 1995;26(8):1369-72.
- 113. Anderson DC, Bottini AG, Jagiella WM, Westphal B, Ford S, Rockswold GL, et al. A pilot study of hyperbaric oxygen in the treatment of human stroke. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 1991;22(9):1137-42.
- 114. Kramer MR, Springer C, Berkman N, Glazer M, Bublil M, Bar-Yishay E, et al. Rehabilitation of hypoxemic patients with COPD at low altitude at the Dead Sea, the lowest place on earth. Chest. 1998;113(3):571-5.
- 115. Abinader EG, Sharif D, Rauchfleich S, Pinzur S, Tanchilevitz A. Effect of low altitude (Dead Sea location) on exercise performance and wall motion in patients with coronary artery disease. The American journal of cardiology. 1999;83(2):250-1, A5.
- 116. Kapp JP. Neurological response to hyperbaric oxygen--a criterion for cerebral revascularization. Surgical neurology. 1981;15(1):43-6.
- 117. Lebedev VV, Isakov Iu V, Pravdenkova SV. [Effect of hyperbaric oxygenation on the clinical course and complications of the acute period of ischemic strokes]. Zhurnal voprosy neirokhirurgii imeni N N Burdenko. 1983(3):37-42.
- 118. Hadanny A, Golan H, Fishlev G, Bechor Y, Volkov O, Suzin G, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen can induce neuroplasticity and improve cognitive functions of patients suffering from anoxic brain damage. Restorative neurology and neuroscience. 2015;33(4):471-86.
- 119. Boussi-Gross R, Golan H, Volkov O, Bechor Y, Hoofien D, Beeri MS, et al. Improvement of memory impairments in poststroke patients by hyperbaric oxygen therapy. Neuropsychology. 2015;29(4):610-21.
- 120. Churchill S, Weaver LK, Deru K, Russo AA, Handrahan D, Orrison WW, Jr., et al. A prospective trial of hyperbaric oxygen for chronic sequelae after brain injury (HYBOBI). Undersea & hyperbaric medicine: journal of the Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society, Inc. 2013;40(2):165-93.
- 121. Lee JI, Wittsack HJ, Christaras A, Miese FR, Siebler M. Normalization of brain tissue lactate after hyperbaric oxygen therapy in a progressive stroke patient. Cerebrovascular diseases. 2008;26(4):447-8.
- 122. Neubauer RA. Generalized small-vessel stenosis in the brain. A case history of a patient treated with monoplace hyperbaric oxygen at 1.5 to 2 ATA. Minerva medica. 1983;74(35):2051-5.
- 123. Hart GB, Thompson RE. The treatment of cerebral ischemia with hyperbaric oxygen (OHP). Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 1971;2(3):247-50.
- 124. Yan D, Shan J, Ze Y, Xiao-Yan Z, Xiao-Hua H. The effects of combined hyperbaric oxygen therapy on patients with post-stroke depression. Journal of physical therapy science. 2015;27(5):1295-7.
- 125. Efrati S, Fishlev G, Bechor Y, Volkov O, Bergan J, Kliakhandler K, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen induces late neuroplasticity in post stroke patients--randomized, prospective trial. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e53716.
- 126. Vila JF, Balcarce PE, Abiusi GR, Dominguez RO, Pisarello JB. Improvement in motor and cognitive impairment after hyperbaric oxygen therapy in a selected group of patients with cerebrovascular disease: a prospective single-blind controlled trial. Undersea & hyperbaric medicine: journal of the Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society, Inc. 2005;32(5):341-9.
- 127. Godwin KM, Wasserman J, Ostwald SK. Cost associated with stroke: outpatient rehabilitative services and medication. Topics in stroke rehabilitation. 2011;18 Suppl 1:676-84.

128. Gloede TD, Halbach SM, Thrift AG, Dewey HM, Pfaff H, Cadilhac DA. Longterm costs of stroke using 10-year longitudinal data from the North East Melbourne Stroke Incidence Study. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2014;45(11):3389-94.